COMPARISON OF THE ABILITY OF BUFFERED PEPTONE WATER AND NEUTRALIZING BUFFERED PEPTONE WATER TO OVERCOME ANTIMICROBIAL CARRYOVER IN CHICKEN CARCASSES AND PARTS

A Thesis

by

JENNIFER VUIA-RISER

Submitted to the Office of Graduate and Professional Studies of Texas A&M University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

Chair of Committee, Committee Members, Head of Department, Thomas Matthew Taylor Kerri B. Gehring Wesley N. Osburn Boon Chew

December 2016

Major Subject: Food Science and Technology

Copyright 2016 Jennifer Vuia-Riser

ABSTRACT

Poultry is a known reservoir of *Salmonella enterica*, and poultry products have been repeatedly identified as transmission vehicles for this pathogen. Poultry processors have incorporated food safety antimicrobial interventions during processing, such as cetylpyridinium chloride (CPC) and peroxyacetic acid (PAA), to assist in reducing foodborne pathogen loads on raw carcasses and parts. The purpose of this study was to determine the capacity of Buffered Peptone Water (BPW) versus neutralizing Buffered Peptone Water (nBPW) to overcome antimicrobial carryover on whole chicken carcasses and chicken parts rinse collections during commercial harvest and fabrication. The null hypotheses for studies were that all rinse fluids tested (Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS), BPW, and nBPW) would have equivalent means for presumptive-positive *Salmonella* recovery.

Detection for *S. enterica* was carried out according to biochemical testing methods designated by the U.S. Department of Agriculture for raw chicken carcasses and parts rinses. Recorded antimicrobial concentrations for PAA and CPC solutions on sampling days were $0.05\%\pm0.007\%$ and $0.50\%\pm0.04\%$, respectively. The average presumptive-positive *Salmonella* recovery rates for PBS (control), BPW, and nBPW for chicken carcasses were 0%, 0%, and 13%, respectively, while rates for PBS, BPW, and nBPW for chicken parts were 4.8%, 12%, and 14%, respectively. Recovery rates for presumptive-positive *Salmonella* on whole carcass rinses differed as a result of rinse fluid for only nBPW (P<0.001, *n*=20). Statistical analysis indicated no significant

ii

difference in presumptive-positive *Salmonella* recoveries for chicken parts as a function of rinse fluid (PBS, BPW, nBPW) (P=0.25, n=14).

Given the outcomes of experiments, the null hypothesis was rejected for carcasses, but for parts, the corresponding null hypothesis was not able to be rejected. While these data show there was neutralizing ability for nBPW for carcass rinse collections, it does not provide evidence that nBPW is more effective as an antimicrobial neutralizing rinse fluid versus PBS or BPW for chicken parts. Further research must be conducted to determine if a stronger neutralizing formulation is required for parts rinses. Research should also be expanded to other chicken edible parts that are sampled per USDA-FSIS regulations to determine if results are similar to those obtained in the present study.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I thank my committee chair, Dr. Taylor, and my committee members, Dr. Gehring, and Dr. Osburn, as well as Dr. Alvarado for their guidance and support throughout the course of this research. Their patience and understanding calmed me throughout this process.

I also thank my labmates, friends, colleagues, and the department faculty and staff because without them, I would not have been able to complete this degree. I am forever indebted to their kindness.

Finally, thank you to my mother, family, and friends for their encouragement and to my husband for his support, patience, love, and faith in me. When times were tough, they reminded me that happiness can be found even in the darkest of times.

CONTRIBUTORS AND FUNDING SOURCES

This work was supported by a thesis committee consisting of Associate Professor Thomas Taylor and Associate Professor Wesley Osburn of the Graduate Faculty of Food Science and Technology, of the Department of Nutrition and Food Science, and Associate Professor Kerri Gehring of the Department of Animal Science. Laboratory and sample collection assistance was also provided by laboratories of Associate Professor Christine Alvarado and Professor Morgan Farnell of the Department of Poultry Science and Professor Jeffrey Savell of the Department of Animal Science. Research was conducted with financial assistance provided by a sanitation technologies company located in the contiguous United States. Sample donations were made by a United States Department of Agriculture-Food Safety and Inspection Service-inspected poultry slaughter and fabrication facility. The data analysis was completed with assistance by Associate Professor Christopher Kerth, Department of Animal Science. All other work conducted for the thesis was completed by the student independently.

NOMENCLATURE

BGS	Brilliant Green Sulfa Agar
BPW	Buffered Peptone Water
CPC	Cetylpyridinium Chloride
H_2S	Hydrogen sulfide
LIA	Lysine Iron Agar
mRV	Rappaport-Vassiliadis broth, modified
nBPW	neutralizing Buffered Peptone Water
PAA	Peroxyacetic Acid
PBS	Phosphate Buffered Saline
TSI	Triple Sugar Iron Agar
TT-H	Tetrathionate broth (Hajna)
USDA-FSIS	United States Department of Agriculture-Food Safety Inspection
	Service
XLT4	Xylose Lysine Tergitol-4 Agar

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
CONTRIBUTORS AND FUNDING SOURCES	v
NOMENCLATURE	vi
TABLE OF CONTENTS	.vii
LIST OF TABLES	ix
1. INTRODUCTION	1
 1.1 Foodborne illness and poultry 1.2 Salmonella enterica 1.3 Salmonellosis	4 6
1.5 Antimicrobial use as a food safety intervention in the poultry industry 1.6 <i>Salmonella</i> testing for poultry products	.10
2. MATERIALS AND METHODS	.14
	14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 .25 25
2.2.3 Sample rinse fluid collection of antimicrobial-treated chicken carcasses or parts	27

2.2.4 Salmonella detection on antimicrobial-treated chicken carcasses or parts	
following rinsing	28
2.3 Statistical analysis	
3. RESULTS	.30
3.1 Salmonella inoculated chicken carcasses	.30
3.2 Commercial chicken carcasses	.36
3.3 Commercial chicken edible parts	.41
4. CONCLUSION	.44
REFERENCES	.49

LIST OF TABLES

Page
Table 1. Biochemical characteristics for most S. enterica strains
Table 2. Genera of bacteria most frequently found on meats and poultry
Table 3. Salmonella enterica subspecies enterica biochemical test result possibilities24
Table 4. Presumptive-positive Salmonella recovery from inoculated young chicken carcasses ^a
Table 5. Fixed Effects Test for presumptive-positive Salmonella recovery from inoculated young chicken carcasses ^a
Table 6. Least Squares Means Differences Student's t for presumptive-positive Salmonella recovery from inoculated young chicken carcasses as a function of rinse fluid
Table 7. Least Squares Means Differences Student's t for presumptive-positive Salmonella recovery from inoculated young chicken carcasses as a function of antimicrobial intervention
Table 8. Least Squares Means Differences Student's t for presumptive-positive Salmonella recovery from inoculated young chicken carcasses as a function of rinse fluid x antimicrobial intervention35
Table 9. Percent of presumptive-positive Salmonella results for chicken carcasses38
Table 10. Analysis of variance for chicken carcass presumptive-positive Salmonella results
Table 11. Least Squares Means Differences for chicken carcass presumptive- positive Salmonella
Table 12. Percent of presumptive-positive Salmonella results from chicken edible parts study
Table 13. Analysis of Variance for chicken edible parts presumptive-positive Salmonella results

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Foodborne illness and poultry

In the United States, it is estimated that 48 million cases of foodborne illness occur annually (17). Non-typhoidal *Salmonella* is the leading cause of bacterial foodborne illness in the U.S. (51). *Salmonella* spp. can be present in a variety of foods, such as beef, pork, poultry, eggs, and produce commodities (17, 19, 41, 72). *Salmonella* has been a common cause of illness, but the incidence of foodborne-derived human illness from *Salmonella* does not seem to be declining; rather, the incidence rates are remaining steady (18, 19, 38, 46). Salmonellosis is one of the most common foodborne diseases, with over 1.2 million illnesses and 453 deaths caused by non-typhoidal *Salmonella* (20, 73). Although incidence rates for salmonellosis are generally perceived as gastrointestinal discomfort unless the acute disease becomes severe enough to seek medical attention (21, 46, 69).

Poultry has been identified as a transmission vehicle for *Salmonella (4, 5, 19, 28, 44, 51)*. A transmission vehicle is any single animal (including humans), plant, soil, substance - or combination of the previously listed – where an infectious agent normally lives *(11)*. The transmission vehicle serves as a vehicle for the infectious substance to be transmitted to a human or other susceptible host *(11)*. The infectious agent must primarily depend on the reservoir for survival and must be able to multiply there *(11)*.

1

This is not to be confused with a vector which is any living creature, such as insects or animals, that transmits an infectious agent to humans, and does not necessarily have to be able to sustain the infectious agent's survival (11). In 2014, poultry was associated with 14% of foodborne disease outbreaks and outbreak-associated illnesses in the U.S. – the most of any food commodity with the exception of finfish (21%) (19). Also, poultry and *Salmonella* are considered the second and third food commodity/pathogen pairing for outbreak-associated illness and outbreaks, respectively (19). During 2014, there were 227 illnesses in recorded outbreaks and 23 recorded hospitalizations due to *Salmonella* in chicken (19). Chicken consumption per individual in the U.S. continues to increase, with the 2015 U.S. per capita consumption of boneless, trimmed chicken increasing by 8.1 pounds since 2000 (19, 40, 52). For *S. enterica*, poultry, meat, and eggs serve as the main reservoir (31).

A *Salmonella* performance standard was created and introduced in 1996 with the requirement for the United States Department of Agriculture-Food Safety Inspection Service (USDA-FSIS) to implement a hazard analysis and critical control points (HACCP) program for pathogen reduction (*64*). As part of this program, a *Salmonella* Verification Program was initiated, where the USDA-FSIS can assess industry performance and controls for reducing *Salmonella* contamination in raw meat and poultry products (*36*, *64*). The primary focus for foodborne pathogen control in the U.S. poultry industry is on post-harvest processing of poultry animals (*5*, *55*). In 2014, the New Poultry Inspection System was initiated by the USDA-FSIS to require all poultry companies to take measures to prevent *Salmonella* contamination, rather than addressing

the contamination after the event has occurred (66). Processing plants have incorporated interventions post-harvest in order to reduce microbial contamination of chicken carcasses (5, 47, 48). Poultry processors can include an antimicrobial dip or spray on raw chicken carcasses and parts (36, 55, 58). Antimicrobial solutions, such as peroxyacetic acid (PAA) or cetylpyridinium chloride (CPC, 1-hexadecylpyridinium chloride), are commonly used in processing (2, 4, 5, 36, 43, 48, 71). However, the incidences of human *Salmonella* infection rates have remained unchanged, even though the *Salmonella* performance standards have become more stringent (5, 9, 10, 36, 65, 66).

1.2 Salmonella enterica

Salmonella spp. are Gram-negative, facultatively anaerobic, non-sporulating regular rod-shaped bacteria that belong to the family *Enterobacteriaceae* (31, 41). While Salmonella grows optimally at 37°C, it can also grow at temperatures between 5.3° C and 45° C (41). Optimum pH for growth is around neutral pH (pH 6.5–7.5), but growth has been recorded in pH as low as pH 4.05 (22, 31). Water activity (a_{w}) levels must also be at or above 0.94 for growth, with higher a_{w} values being required as the pH decreases (41). Salmonella spp. can also catabolize glucose, which results in acid and gas production, but the bacterium cannot utilize lactose as a carbohydrate source (31).

In the genus *Salmonella*, there exists two species: *S. bongori* and *S. enterica*. *S. enterica* can be further classified into six subspecies, including *enterica, arizonae, diarizonae, salamae, houtenae,* and *indica (41)*. While most *Salmonella* spp. are motile with peritrichous flagella, *S. enterica* subsp. *enterica* serovar Pullorum and *S. enterica* subsp. *enterica* serovar Gallinarum are non-motile strains due to the lack of functional flagella (*31, 50*). Table 1 summarizes the biochemical characteristics of most *S. enterica* strains.

Biochemical Test	Reaction ^a
Glucose (TSI)	+
Lysine decarboxylases (LIA)	+
Hydrogen sulfide (TSI and LIA)	+
Urease	-
Lysine decarboxylase broth	+
Phenol red dulcitol broth	+ ^(b)
Potassium cyanide broth	-
Malonate broth	_(c)
Indole test	-
Polvalent flagellar test	+
Polyvalent somatic test	+
Lactose fermentation	_(c)
Sucrose fermentation	-
Voges-Proskauer test	-
Methyl red test	+
Simmons citrate	V

Table 1. Biochemical characteristics for most S. enterica strains

^a + 90% or more positive in 1 or 2 days; -: 90% or more negative in 1 or 2 days; v: variable

^b Majority of *S. enterica* subsp. *arizonae* strains are negative ^c Majority of *S. enterica* subsp. *arizonae* strains are positive

Adapted from (33)

The primary environment for *Salmonella* spp. is in the intestinal tract of animals, such as birds, reptiles, humans, and farm animals (41). However, humans and animals are the primary reservoirs (41). Salmonella can be excreted in feces, and this can result in transmission to humans by insects and other living creatures, which serve as vectors. For insects that serve as vectors, *Salmonella* can be transmitted whenever the insect bites and injects the infectious agent or when contaminated appendages touch a person (11). Animals can serve as a vector when *Salmonella* is present in the gastrointestinal tract and are excreted in the animal's feces, resulting in an unsanitary environment. Animals can also have Salmonella present on the exterior surface of the animal, and Salmonella contamination can occur when contact is made with the fecal matter. As humans and other animals consume contaminated foods and water, and the organisms are shed through fecal matter, the cycle will continue. Through these dissemination vehicles, Salmonella spp. can eventually be found in water, soils, and farms, resulting in their presence on meat commodities through cross-contamination and natural occurrence (41, 72).

1.3 Salmonellosis

Salmonellosis is a gastrointestinal disease which typically lasts 4–7 days, although chronic salmonellosis can occur (32, 35). Salmonella infections can occur with as few as 10 cells per gram (41). Rates of salmonellosis usually peak during the summer months, with rates being the highest from May through October (13). This could be due to the increased occurrence of temperature abuse of foods and/or cross-contamination of foods at cookouts during the summer months (72). However, the more likely cause is the correlation between higher ambient temperatures providing the ability for more rapid replication (1). Children under the age of 5, older adults, and immunocompromised individuals are at the highest risk for infection, requiring the consumption of fewer cells in order to develop symptoms (20, 41, 72).

Symptoms for salmonellosis can appear in as few as 4 hours, but a 12-14 hour incubation period until onset of clinical illness is average (32, 41). Salmonellosis can cause lower gastrointestinal tract symptoms within an infected person (32, 41). These symptoms can include abdominal cramps, diarrhea, vomiting, fever, chills, nausea, and possible headache. Most individuals recover without needing antibiotic treatment, but in severe cases, *Salmonella* can infect the bloodstream or other parts of the body (35). Severe cases result in an individual needing medical attention, and death can occur if the disease is not treated (20).

Although salmonellosis has been causing illness for over 125 years, it has only been a notifiable disease in the U.S. since 1942 (20, 72). While it is mandatory that reportable disease cases are reported to the state and territorial jurisdictions, it is voluntary that notifiable diseases are reported to the CDC by state and territorial jurisdictions (15). Since 1942, the rate of reported cases for salmonellosis has increased over time, but this could be attributed to more awareness, surveillance, and sampling (20, 72). Recently, rates of *Salmonella* cases have remained relatively constant, with 1 million confirmed *Salmonella*-derived foodborne illnesses occurring per year in the U.S (17). With non-typhoidal *Salmonella* resulting in an annual estimate of 378 deaths a year in the U.S., decreasing the rates of *Salmonella* spp. in the food supply is a priority

(51). This is a priority not only due to the hospitalizations and/or fatalities that may occur, but also due to the economic impact that salmonellosis can have annually (73). In the U.S., the economic impact of salmonellosis can be as high as \$2.3 billion per year, and the cost of illness is estimated at over \$3.3 million per year (3, 35).

1.4 Poultry as a reservoir for *Salmonella*

Post-rigor meats have pH values suitable for growth for a variety of organisms. Bacteria prefer to grow at a pH 6.5 to 7.5, but they can also tolerate growth with pH ranges from pH 4 to 9 (29). With an approximate pH between 6.2 and 6.4, chicken meat has a pH environment suitable for harboring bacteria (46). Meat also provides a sufficient nutrient source and has enough moisture content to sustain microbial growth (46). Table 2, which has been reprinted with permission from Springer, displays a list of bacteria most frequently found on fresh meats and poultry (41). The primary source of salmonellae accumulation in poultry is within the gastrointestinal tract (8, 41, 72). Contamination of the exterior and cavity of the bird carcass can occur during the slaughter operation (41). Cross-contamination can also occur after evisceration if contaminated knives, blades, and other processing equipment come into contact with edible carcasses or parts.

Genus	Gram Reaction	Fresh Meats	Poultry
Acinetobacter	-	$\checkmark \checkmark a$	$\checkmark\checkmark$
Aeromonas	-	$\checkmark\checkmark$	✓ ^b
Alcaligenes	-	\checkmark	\checkmark
Arcobacter	-	\checkmark	
Bacillus	+	\checkmark	\checkmark
Brochothrix	+	\checkmark	\checkmark
Campylobacter	-		$\checkmark\checkmark$
Carnobacterium	+	\checkmark	
Caseobacter	+	\checkmark	
Citrobacter	-	\checkmark	\checkmark
Clostridium	+	\checkmark	\checkmark
Corynebacterium	+	\checkmark	$\checkmark\checkmark$
Enterobacter	-	\checkmark	\checkmark
Enterococcus	+	$\checkmark\checkmark$	\checkmark
Erysipelothrix	+	\checkmark	\checkmark
Escherichia	-	\checkmark	
Flavobacterium	-	\checkmark	\checkmark
Hafnia	-	\checkmark	
Kocuria	+	\checkmark	\checkmark
Kurthia	+	\checkmark	
Lactobacillus	+	\checkmark	
Lactococcus	+	\checkmark	
Leuconostoc	+	\checkmark	
Listeria	+	\checkmark	$\checkmark\checkmark$
Microbacterium	+	\checkmark	\checkmark
Micrococcus	+	\checkmark	$\checkmark\checkmark$
Moraxella	-	$\checkmark\checkmark$	\checkmark
Paenibacillus	+	\checkmark	\checkmark
Pantoea	-	\checkmark	\checkmark
Pediococcus	+	\checkmark	
Proteus	-	\checkmark	\checkmark
Pseudomonas	-	~~	$\checkmark\checkmark$
Psychrobacter	-	~~	\checkmark
Salmonella	-	\checkmark	\checkmark
Serratia	-	\checkmark	\checkmark
Shewanella	-	\checkmark	
Staphylococcus	+	\checkmark	\checkmark
Vagococcus	+		$\checkmark\checkmark$
Weissella	+	\checkmark	\checkmark
Yersinia	-	\checkmark	\checkmark

Table 2. Genera of bacteria most frequently found on meats and poultry. Reprinted with permission of Springer, Modern Food Microbiology, Fresh Meats and Poultry, 7th ed., 2005, pg. 65, James M. Jay, Martin J. Loessner, David A. Golden, 29 November 2016.

 $a \checkmark \checkmark$ represents the genera being most frequently reported

^b represents the genera being known to occur

Adapted from (41)

Poultry has been repeatedly implicated or identified in the occurrence of foodborne disease outbreaks in the United States, especially with salmonellosis (17, 19, 31). Salmonellosis cases vary with poultry animals serving as the vector or poultry meat serving as the transmission vehicle. Most recently, several S. enterica subsp. enterica serovars were associated with causing human infections originating from the handling of domestic poultry chicks (16). This is unique considering the outbreak occurred due to Salmonella being transmitted with poultry chicks servings as a vector. Since July of 2016, Salmonella serovars S. Enteritidis, S. Muenster, S. Hadar, S. Indiana, S. Mbandaka, S. Infantis, S. Braenderup, and S. Infantis have caused 895 cases of infection, 1 death, and 209 hospitalizations in 48 states due to the handling of poultry chicks (16). In 2013 and 2014, S. Heidelberg was identified as the culprit of a multistate outbreak (12, 14). This outbreak of S. Heidelberg persisted from March 2013 until July 2014, and was traced back to Foster Farms branded chicken, chicken parts, and marinated products. It resulted in 634 cases of salmonellosis occurring in 29 states and Puerto Rico (14). Both of these outbreaks demonstrate that poultry can serve as both a vector and transmission vehicle for Salmonella.

1.5 Antimicrobial use as a food safety intervention in the poultry industry

In the poultry industry, organic and inorganic acids are incorporated as an antimicrobial intervention in some instances (41, 46, 49). The antimicrobial effect that organic acids have comes from their ability to lower pH and the toxicity to microorganisms from the undissociated form of the acid (29, 46). All microorganisms have a maximum, minimum, and optimum pH level for growth, and if hydrogen ion

concentrations are changed, it can influence the inhibition or growth of the organism (29). Undissociated acid molecules can easily cross cell membranes of microbial cells and enter the cytoplasm, where the molecules will dissociate due to the cytoplasm pH being more than 6.0 (46). As a result, the cytoplasm pH will be lowered, causing the cell to use energy to force excess hydrogen ions out of the cytoplasm to regain metabolic pH (46). Eventually, the cytoplasm pH falls below the level of homeostasis, and the cell dies (46).

Addition of using organic and inorganic acids for use in the production of meat, poultry, and egg products must be approved by the USDA-FSIS (*63*). The ingredients that are safe and suitable are updated quarterly and are provided in the FSIS Directive 7120.1 (*60*, *63*). Currently, both CPC and PAA are approved as antimicrobial interventions to treat the surfaces of raw poultry carcasses or parts (skin-on or skinless) (*60*). When applied as a dip or spray, PAA and CPC should not exceed 2,000 parts per million (ppm) and 8,000 ppm, respectively (*60*).

CPC is a quaternary ammonium compound that is used as a cationic surfactant (39). When alkaline CPC ions interact with acid groups in bacterial cells, the ions form weakly ionized compounds that subsequently inhibit bacterial metabolism (39, 45). CPC can be applied as either a fine mist spray or as a liquid solution directly to raw poultry carcasses prior to immersion in a chiller (23). Chronic exposure to CPC can cause microorganisms to become less sensitive to the compounds (68).

PAA is a quaternary equilibrium mix of acetic acid and hydrogen peroxide, ultimately breaking down into acetic acid, water ,and oxygen (*37*). PAA's antimicrobial mechanism is due to the release of reactive oxygenated species. The active oxygen can oxidize sulfhydryl and sulfur bonds in proteins. Oxidizing these bonds can result in the disruption of proton transfer at the cell membrane, which ruptures cell walls (6, 37). PAA can be applied as an antimicrobial for poultry carcasses, parts, and organs during processing as a dip or a spray and can function under low temperature conditions, such as at $4^{\circ}C$ (6, 24).

1.6 Salmonella testing for poultry products

With the exception of very low volume establishments (ones that annually slaughter no more than 440,000 chickens, 60,000 turkeys, ducks, geese, guineas, or squabs), chicken processing establishments must take a minimum of one carcass and part sample weekly for *Salmonella* testing (25, 62). While establishments must take a minimum one carcass and part sample weekly, they must also sample at a frequency that is adequate to monitor their ability to maintain process control for enteric pathogens (25). Samples are collected on a moving window basis, meaning that when a new sample is taken, the oldest sample is removed from the window (62). Samples must be taken based according to USDA-FSIS Microbiology Laboratory Guidebook, chapter 4.08, which took effect June 29, 2014 (57).

According to current USDA-FSIS recommendations, samples collected for *Salmonella* prevalence testing should be allowed to drip for 1 min prior to rinse fluid addition to reduce the possibility of antimicrobial carryover from the antimicrobial dip application (*57*, *59*). However, it is not possible to completely remove all antimicrobial solution from the sample unless the sample undergoes an extensive wash. It is possible

that antimicrobial carryover can occur in sampled carcass or parts rinse fluids that are submitted for *Salmonella* testing. This was supported by Gamble et al. (2016) when looking at the efficacy of BPW being able to neutralize a variety of antimicrobial solutions that were applied to *Salmonella*-inoculated male broilers (*36*). Results indicated that BPW as a pre-enrichment solution was not able to fully overcome antimicrobial carryover that collected in the rinse fluid (*36*). In response to the issue of antimicrobial carryover and its possible impacts on pathogen recovery for performance standard adherence determination, USDA-FSIS issued a notice for poultry rinsate collections to occur with neutralizing Buffered Peptone Water (nBPW) instead of Buffered Peptone Water (BPW), which took effect July 1, 2016 (*61*).

In order to determine the rate of *Salmonella* recovery of BPW rinse fluid compared to nBPW, *Salmonella* testing was performed using the biochemical testing methods described in the USDA-FSIS guideline testing method for both chicken carcass and chicken parts rinses (*57*). A preliminary study was conducted with *Salmonella* spp.inoculated young chicken carcasses undergoing an antimicrobial application of either CPC or PAA prior to rinse fluids being collected. Once it was apparent that nBPW did possess the ability to recover *Salmonella* spp. from the preliminary study, chicken carcasses and parts were sampled at a USDA-FSIS inspected poultry slaughter and fabrication facility, and *Salmonella* testing was performed outside of the facility. The null hypothesis was that all rinse fluids would have equivalent means for presumptivepositive *Salmonella* recovery, and the alternative hypothesis was that at least one rinse fluid would have presumptive-positive *Salmonella* recovery means be different.

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Salmonella inoculated preliminary neutralizer efficacy trial

As indicated previously, there are several antimicrobial processes that a broiler slaughter and fabrication facility can use in order to reduce levels of enteric bacteria. In order to determine if the antimicrobial-neutralizing ability of nBPW would be effective in a commercial poultry abattoir setting that could have very low cell prevalence rates of *Salmonella* spp., the rinse fluid needed to be able to demonstrate that it had the ability to overcome any antimicrobial carryover on a chicken carcass that was a carrier for *Salmonella* spp. In order to accomplish this, a preliminary experiment was conducted to determine the neutralizing abilities of BPW and nBPW on young chicken carcasses that were inoculated with a *Salmonella* spp. cocktail.

2.1.1 Inocula preparation

Isolates (one strain each) of *Salmonella* Typhimurium, *S.* Heidelberg, and *S.* Enteritidis were obtained from the culture collection of Dr. Christine Alvarado (Department of Poultry Science, Texas A&M University, College Station, TX) and revived in 10 ml of Tryptic Soy Broth (TSB; Becton, Dickinson and Co., Franklin Lakes, NJ) by incubating aerobically, without shaking at $35\pm2^{\circ}$ C for 21 ± 3 h. One loopful of each culture then was transferred into a sterile tube containing 10 ml TSB and incubated aerobically without shaking at $35\pm2^{\circ}$ C for 21 ± 3 h. Cultures were transferred to labeled, pre-sterilized, conical tubes, which then were wrapped in Parafilm M® (Bemis, Oshkosh, WI) to prevent contamination and/or leakage during transport to the Poultry Science Center at Texas A&M University (College Station, TX). Immediately prior to use, incubated cultures were serially diluted in Phosphate-Buffered Saline solution (PBS; EMD Millipore, Temecula, CA) to a final target concentration of approximately 6.0 \log_{10} colony forming units per milliliter (CFU/ml). Tubes containing $6.0 \log_{10}$ CFU/ml cells were centrifuged (2191 x g in a Jouan B4i centrifuge, $25\pm2^{\circ}$ C, 15 min), supernatants aseptically removed, and pellets suspended in 10 ml sterile PBS. Suspended pellets then underwent a second centrifugation in identical fashion to the conditions described for the initial centrifugation, and the process was repeated a third time in identical fashion to the first two centrifugations and washings of culture pellets. After the third resuspension in PBS, *Salmonella* serovars in PBS were combined to create a mixture of strains for subsequent inoculation ("cocktail"). To verify the concentration of the inoculum cocktail, a 5 ml aliquot was serially diluted in 0.1% peptone water (PW, Becton, Dickinson and Co.) and dilutions were aseptically spread on surfaces of Xylose Lysine Tergitol-4 (XLT4; Becton, Dickinson and Co.) agar supplemented with Niaproof-4 (Sigma-Aldrich Co., St. Louis, MO)-containing Petri plates. XLT4 Petri plates were inverted and incubated aerobically at $35\pm2^{\circ}$ C for 21 ± 3 h. After incubation, only black or red colonies with or without black centers were selected for colony counting. Colony counts then were transformed and expressed as log₁₀ CFU/ml. The remaining cocktail solution went into a sterile spray bottle.

2.1.2 Young chicken carcass collection

Five boxes, each containing 20 young chicken carcasses (*Gallus domesticus*), were purchased from a local purveyor one day prior to the date that carcasses were to be

inoculated (i.e. the project initiation date). Packages were transported to the Texas A&M Poultry Science Center and placed in a walk-in cooler $(4\pm 2^{\circ}C)$.

2.1.3 Poultry carcass inoculation of *Salmonella* cocktail

In order to have the maximum amount of external carcass surface exposed to air for drying after inoculation, metal racks were used for carcass placement after inoculation. Racks were placed in plastic pans, sprayed with 70% ethanol, and allowed to air dry. Each carcass was aseptically transferred into a polyethylene bag (15" by 20" polyethylene, poultry rinse bag, 12 liter capacity, VWR Int., Radnor, PA) and placed on a sterilized rack.

For the *Salmonella* cocktail-containing bottle, the volume of a full spray was measured as being 1 ± 0.1 ml. To prime the pump, an individual wearing a shoulderlength glove placed the inoculum-containing spray bottle into a separate, empty, polyethylene bag, and 3 pumps were sprayed into the bag to prime the spray pump to ensure a full spray onto carcass surfaces. After priming, the individual used a gloved hand to lift the plastic bag away from the anterior surface of the carcass. The bag containing the carcass was opened, and one spray (1 ± 0.1 ml) of inoculum was applied at approximately 8–10 in. away from the carcass. Once sprayed, the bottle was removed, and the bag ends were closed to prevent aerosols from being released. This process was repeated for all bird carcasses being inoculated in the experiment.

After approximately 2 min post-inoculation, carcasses were removed from bags, and each carcass was placed on an individual metal rack. The posterior surface of the carcass was in contact with the metal rack, with anterior sides facing upwards. After placement, the carcasses were dried for 30 min to allow for bacterial attachment. 2.1.4 CPC antimicrobial solution preparation and application methods

CPC was one of two antimicrobial solutions used after inoculation and the 30 min bacterial attachment occurred. There were two CPC application methods; a drench (CPC_a) and a drench followed immediately by an 80 min chill in ice-water (CPC_b). CPC_a method was conducted in order to determine *Salmonella* spp. recovery in carcasses that were immediately sampled after antimicrobial treatment and water rinse. CPC_b method was conducted in an attempt to imitate an ice-chill that would take place in a slaughter and fabrication facility. A CPC (CecureTM, SafeFoods Corp., Rogers, AR) and water (H₂O) solution was created immediately prior to application at an ingoing concentration of 8,000 ppm CPC (0.8%) by combining 14.7 liters H₂O and 300 ml commercial CPC-containing solution (40± 2% concentration according to manufacturer guidance) and stirring. Ingoing CPC concentration was verified using a cetylpyridinium chlorine titration kit (SafeFoods Cecure Titration Kit, SafeFood Corp., Rogers, AK) prior to CPC application.

Approximately 2 liters of CPC solution then was drenched onto a carcass for each treatment. This drench was accomplished by an individual, wearing shoulderlength gloves, holding the carcass by the drumsticks while another individual, with shoulder-length gloves, poured approximately 1 liter of the CPC solution over the carcass and into the interior cavity. After approximately 1 liter was poured, the carcassholding individual would remove one hand, and the solution-holding individual would pour approximately 500 ml over the drumstick area that was previously covered by the glove, with a small amount of solution being poured over the carcass-holding individual's gloved hand. The carcass-holding individual would replace the gloved hand back onto the drumstick, remove the other hand, and the process was repeated for the opposite side. After the drench was applied, CPC_a carcasses were allowed to drip for 1 min in order for excess CPC solution to be removed. The CPC_a carcasses then were sprayed with 50±5 ml of water in order to simulate process methods in the collaborating poultry abattoir facility. After the water spray, carcasses were allowed to drip for an additional 1 min before being placed into a polyethylene bag. Conversely, CPC_b birds were allowed to drip for 1 min after the CPC drench occurred in order for excess CPC solution to be removed from the bath and allowed to drip for 1 min before being placed into a polyethylene bag for carcass reinsing.

2.1.5 PAA antimicrobial solution and application method

PAA was the second of two antimicrobial solutions used after inoculation and 30 min bacterial attachment occurred. An aqueous PAA (Paragonn XP, SafeFoods Corp.) solution was prepared immediately prior to application at an ingoing concentration of 2,000 ppm PAA (0.2%) by combining 14.8 liters H₂O and 200 ml of PAA (14–17% concentration per manufacturer-provided product description) and stirring. Ingoing PAA concentration was tested using a hydrogen peroxide and peracetic acid test kit (LaMotte, Chestertown, MD) prior to PAA application. Approximately 2 liters of PAA antimicrobial solution was drenched onto a carcass for each treatment conducted using

the same method previously mentioned for CPC_a carcasses. After the drench was applied, PAA carcasses were allowed to drip for 1 min in order for excess PAA solution to be removed. Post 1-min PAA drip, the PAA-treated birds were immediately placed into polyethylene bags for carcass rinsing.

2.1.6 Preparation of rinse fluid

Rinse fluid solutions of PBS (control), BPW, and nBPW were prepared in 100 ± 10 ml and 30 ± 2 ml volumes, with 100 ± 10 ml volumes serving as rinse fluids for carcass rinses, and 30 ± 2 ml volumes serving as sterile enrichment fluids. It has been shown that a reduced, 100 ml rinse fluid volume has no affect on the recovery of *Salmonella*, so these volumes were used in an effort to reduce media preparation and waste (*26*). Rinse fluids included 100 ± 10 ml and 30 ± 2 ml volumes each of PBS, BPW, and nBPW. PBS was chosen as a control fluid based on its buffering abilities.

PBS and BPW (Hardy Diagnostics, Santa Monica, CA) were prepared according to manufacturer instructions. One PBS tablet was added per 1 liter distilled H₂O and dissolved via agitation. After tablets were completely dissolved, PBS solution was aliquoted into autoclavable, screw-cap polypropylene bottles (Nalge Nunc International, Rochester, NY) and autoclaved-sterilized for 15 min at 121°C. Once cooled, bottles were stored at 4 ± 2 °C until sample rinse fluid collection was to occur. For BPW preparation, 20 g of Buffered Peptone (Hardy Diagnostics) free-flowing medium powder was added per 1 liter of distilled H₂O and dissolved via agitation with a stir rod. After the powdered media was completely dissolved, the BPW solution was aliquoted into autoclavable, screw-cap polypropylene bottles, and autoclaved-sterilized for 15 min at 121°C. Once tempered, bottles were stored at 4 ± 2 °C until sample rinse fluid collection was to occur.

For nBPW, preparation was prepared based on the USDA-FSIS preparation method (67). Twenty (20) g Buffered Peptone, 7 g Refined Soy Lecithin powder (Alfa Aesar, Haverhill, MA) and 1 g sodium thiosulfate (EMD Millipore) was added per 833 ml distilled H₂O and stirred via agitation for 5 min. After stirring, the solution was autoclave-sterilized for 15 min at 121°C. In 167 ml sterile distilled H₂O, 12.5 g sodium bicarbonate (EMD Millipore) was dissolved via agitation and heating. After the sodium bicarbonate solution was dissolved, the solution was vacuum-sterilized via a filtration system (0.45 μ m pore size, VWR Int.) and added to the autoclaved broth after it had tempered to at least 55°C. The nBPW was stirred for 1 min to homogenize after the addition of the sodium bicarbonate solution, and it remained stirring while being aliquoted due to precipitation occurring in the broth. After the nBPW solution was aliquoted into sterilized, screw-cap polypropylene bottles, it was stored at 4±2°C until sample rinse fluid collection was to occur.

2.1.7 Carcass rinse and sample rinse fluid collection

For laboratory experiments, carcasses that did not undergo inoculation were used as negative control carcasses. Negative control carcasses were immediately placed into polyethylene bags for carcass rinsing with PBS. Positive control carcasses underwent spray inoculation in identical fashion to the conditions described for inoculation in Section 2.1.3. After the bacterial attachment period, carcasses were immediately placed into polyethylene bags for rinsing with PBS. The negative control was used for determining the presumptive-positive *Salmonella* prevalence on carcasses prior to inoculation. The positive control was used for determining the amount of presumptivepositive *Salmonella* bacterial attachment after the 30 min inoculation period. After the antimicrobial-treated carcasses were placed in sterile, polypropylene bags, either BPW or nBPW (100 ± 10 ml) was poured into the bag. The top of the bag was twisted several times, and the bird was rinsed by moving the bag back and forth in an arc motion (21 ± 3 in.) for 1 min. This was accomplished by holding the twisted top of the bag with one hand, placing the other hand on the bottom of the bag to stabilize the carcass, and then moving the bag back and forth in an arc motion. This ensured that both the interior and exterior surface of the carcass was rinsed. After 1 min was completed, the corner of the bag was cut with flame-sterilized scissors and sample rinse fluid was collected back in the respective container it was poured from.

2.1.8 Salmonella microbiological testing method

In order to simulate USDA-FSIS *Salmonella* testing procedures, the biochemical testing methods described in the USDA-FSIS Microbiological Laboratory Guidebook (MLG) 4.08 were used to test for recovered inoculated *Salmonella* spp. (*57*). While samples collected in plants are sealed, refrigerated, and shipped to an FSIS laboratory for *Salmonella* detection, all samples taken during this study were transferred on day 0 of the experiment in order to allow for *Salmonella* spp. to have the greatest opportunity for recovery.

After sample rinse fluid was collected, 30 ml of sample rinse fluid was added to a bottle containing 30 ml of sterile, matching rinse fluid (BPW, nBPW) for pre-enrichment

purposes to allow injured organisms the opportunity for recovery (30). This resulted in a pre-enrichment container volume of 60 ml. The 60 ml pre-enrichment container was incubated at $35\pm2^{\circ}$ C for 22 ± 2 h. Following incubation, 0.5 ± 0.05 ml and 0.1 ± 0.05 ml pre-enrichment solution was added to 10 ml Tetrathionate Hajna (TT-H; Becton, Dickinson and Co.) broth and 10 ml modified Rappaport-Vassiliadis broth (mRV; Sigma-Aldrich Co.), respectively, for selective enrichment. Inoculated selective enrichment broths were incubated at $42\pm2^{\circ}C$ for 22 ± 2 h. One loopful each of postincubated TT-H and mRV was streaked onto Brilliant Green Sulfa (BGS; Becton, Dickinson and Co.) agar-containing Petri plates and XLT4 agar supplemented with Niaproof-4-containing Petri plates. BGS and XLT4 Petri plates were inverted and aerobically incubated at $35\pm2^{\circ}$ C for 22 ± 2 h. Three Salmonella-typical colonies from each sample set were selected with a pre-sterilized plastic needle. Triple Sugar Iron agar (TSI; Hardy Diagnostics) and Lysine Iron Agar (LIA; Becton, Dickinson and Co.) slants were inoculated with the picked colony by stabbing the inoculated needle into the butt of the slant, removing the needle, and then streaking the needle across the lawn of the slant. Slants were aerobically incubated at $35\pm2^{\circ}$ C for 22 ± 2 h before being assessed for typical Salmonella biochemical characteristics.

TSI slants were recorded as presumptive-positive *Salmonella* if a yellow butt and red slant was produced after incubation, with or without gas production from glucose fermentation or blackening of medium from hydrogen sulfide (H₂S) production, which occurs due to the interaction between sodium thiosulfate and ferric ammonium citrate in the media (*34*, *57*). LIA slants were recorded as positive if there was a purple butt,

indicating the decarboxylation of lysine, with or without blackening of medium, a result of H_2S production between sodium thiosulfate and ferric ammonium citrate (30, 34, 57). In the event that an atypical *Salmonella* result occurred during TSI and LIA result recording, the Rule-Out Reactions guidelines were followed to classify questionable colony slants being classified as positive or negative (34). The Rule-Out Reactions guidelines states that if any of the following occur, the isolate tested is considered negative: (a) isolates producing "no change" or an alkaline slant and butt in both TSI (red) and LIA (purple), (b) isolates having three atypical reaction results (TSI having an acidic or yellow butt and slant, LIA having an acidic or yellow butt), or (c) isolates producing a burgundy or brick red slant in LIA (34). A listing of typical and atypical biochemical test results are provided in Table 3. If both the TSI and LIA sample from the colony set were considered presumptive-positive Salmonella, then the colony sample was considered "positive" for Salmonella spp. through biochemical media testing (34). Characteristics were recorded and presumptive-positive Salmonella colonies were determined as "present" if Salmonella positive morphologies were present in either XLT4 or BGS Petri plates and on matching TSI and LIA slants and met Rule-Out Reactions guidelines.

Media	Typical result ^a (T)	Atypical result ^a (A)	
XLT4	Colonies: Black $(H_2S + ^b)$ or red colonies with $(H_2S +)$ or without $(H_2S - ^c)$ black centers	Colonies: Pink (Xylose - ^d); pink- yellow color (lactose + e and/or sucrose + ^f)	
	Colony Rim: May be yellow in 24 hr but should later turn red	Colony rim: May be yellow in 24 hr but should later turn red	
BGS	Colonies: Pink and opaque with a smooth appearance	Colonies: Green	
	Colony rim: entire colony edge should have red color in medium	Colony rim: no reddening of agar surrounding colony	
TSI	Butt: Yellow with $(H_2S +)$ or without $(H_2S -)$ blackening of the media	Butt: Yellow without (H ₂ S -) blackening of the media; Yellow with (H ₂ S +) or without (H ₂ S -) blackening of the media	
	Slant: Red to pink	Slant: Red; Yellow	
LIA	Butt: Purple with (H ₂ S +) or without (H ₂ S -) blackening of the media	Butt: Yellow with (H ₂ S +) without (H ₂ S -) blackening of the media	
	Slant: Purple, unless blackening has extended onto the slant	Slant: Purple with (H ₂ S +) or without (H ₂ S -) blackening of the media	
^a Results are characteristic for <i>Salmonella enterica</i> subsp. <i>enterica</i> ^b hydrogen sulfide (H ₂ S) producing			

Table 3. Salmonella enterica subspecies enterica biochemical test result possibilities

^c hydrogen sulfide (H₂S) producing ^c non-hydrogen sulfide producing ^d xylose fermentation negative ^e lactose fermentation positive ^f sucrose fermentation positive

Adapted from (34, 57)

2.2 Chicken carcass or parts Salmonella detection in a commercial abattoir

As indicated previously in Section 1.5, there are several antimicrobial processes that poultry slaughter and fabrication facilities can use in order to reduce levels of enteric bacteria. After the preliminary experiment, PBS, BPW, and nBPW rinse fluids were utilized in chicken carcass and chicken parts rinses in a commercial abattoir to determine recovery rates for presumptive-positive *Salmonella* spp.

2.2.1 Sample size determination for Salmonella detection in a commercial abattoir

Monthly *Salmonella* testing data from a USDA-FSIS inspected poultry slaughter and fabrication facility was reviewed in order to determine sample sizes that would be able to capture the normal rates of occurrence in the facility. To determine the sample size necessary to achieve a minimum power of 80%, the following equation was utilized, where P is the chosen power (1- β) and *p*' is the proportion of carcasses or parts that are not contaminated (27).

$$n = \log(\mathbf{P}) / \log(p')$$

Based on the above equation and nationwide USDA-FSIS-collected microbiological baseline data for *Salmonella* prevalence in raw young chicken carcasses and raw chicken parts, sample sizes (n) for chicken carcasses and chicken edible parts were determined (54, 56). If the equation resulted in an odd number sample size, the sample size was increased to an even number for matching purposes. Per rinse fluid treatment for each replication of chicken parts, 3 samples of 16 wings, 3 samples of 9 thighs, 4 samples of 4 split breasts and 4 samples of 11 drumsticks were sampled to ensure a variety between light and dark meat pieces (n=14). The numbers of pieces per sample correlates to the poultry facility's collection standard for how many pieces yield an average of 4 pounds, equivalent to USDA-FSIS weight requirement for all chicken part samples for *Salmonella* detection sampling (*57*). Per rinse fluid treatment for each replication for chicken carcasses, 20 chicken carcasses were selected to be sampled (n=20). After three replications, this resulted in parts having an N=42 and carcasses having an N=60.

2.2.2 Comparison of chicken carcass or parts sample rinse fluids for *Salmonella* detection in a commercial abattoir

Chicken carcasses and parts (*Gallus domesticus*) were collected from a USDA-FSIS inspected poultry slaughter and fabrication facility located in Texas with establishment permission. All sample collections occurred during the first shift, and all replications occurred on separate days. After evisceration, carcasses underwent a CPC spray (0.525±0.025% CPC) application in a spray cabinet that applied CPC solution to the exterior surface of the carcass and the interior cavity. Ingoing CPC concentration was verified using a cetylpyridinium chlorine titration kit (SafeFoods Cecure Titration Kit, SafeFood Corp.), and antimicrobial solution was collected from the CPC antimicrobial solution container in the commercial abattoir. Carcasses then were chilled in an ice-water chiller for approximately 2 h. All carcasses were selected at random, collected post-chill, and were allowed to drip for 1 min before being placed into a polyethylene bag for rinsing.

All parts samples collected from the facility were taken from carcasses that underwent CPC-treatment prior to fabrication. For cut chicken edible parts, chicken carcasses were placed onto fabrication lines that continued onto cut chicken edible parts processing. Parts were cut in the sequence of wings, split breasts, thighs, and drumsticks. After parts were cut, they were dropped into a chute and sent to the respective parts conveyer lines. The parts were subjected to a PAA dip tank (0.05%±0.007%) before being sprayed with water as they left the dip tank. Ingoing PAA concentration was tested using a hydrogen peroxide and peracetic acid test kit (LaMotte), and antimicrobial solution was collected from the PAA dip tanks that parts were to be collected from in the commercial abattoir. After the water spray, edible parts were collected from the conveyer line, allowed to drip for 1 min, and then placed into a polyethylene bag for rinsing.

2.2.3 Sample rinse fluid collection of antimicrobial-treated chicken carcasses or parts

Rinse fluid solutions were prepared in 400 ± 10 ml and 30 ± 2 ml volumes to simulate USDA-FSIS *Salmonella* testing procedures. Rinse fluid volumes of 400 ml of PBS, BPW, or nBPW were poured into a bag containing either a whole chicken carcass or parts that underwent the respective antimicrobial treatment (CPC application to the carcass and PAA dip tank application post-cut). The top of the bag was twisted several times, and the bird was rinsed by moving the bag back and forth in an arc motion (21±3 in. range) for 1 min (*57*). After 1 min, the corner of the bag was cut with flamesterilized scissors and sample rinse fluid was collected back in the respective container it was poured from (*57*). 2.2.4 *Salmonella* detection on antimicrobial-treated chicken carcasses or parts following rinsing

Salmonella survival on commercially harvested chicken carcasses and cut parts were completed in identical fashion to methods described above for the detection and identification of *Salmonella* from the first study using *Salmonella*-inoculated chicken carcasses in Section 2.1.8. Data were coded in like fashion as to that described for presumptive-positive *Salmonella*, -negative status on tested carcasses or cut parts for subsequent statistical analysis in Section 2.1.8.

2.3 Statistical analysis

From the *Salmonella*-inoculated carcass study, carcasses bearing detectable, presumptive-positive *Salmonella* spp. were converted into binomial data, with presumptive-positive *Salmonella* samples coded as 1 and *Salmonella*-negative samples coded as 0. All analyses were performed using JMP Pro v12 (SAS Inc., Cary, NC). Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to determine differences among rinse fluids' main effects and/or interactions of these main effects. Main effects for the preliminary experiment were identified as antimicrobial intervention and rinse fluid whereas main effects for commercial chicken carcasses and parts were rinse fluids. Statistically significant differences among main effects (p<0.05) were analyzed further and compared using either Student's t test or Tukey's Honest Significant Differences (HSD) test. The determination of differences in frequencies of presumptive-positive *Salmonella* survival was analyzed as a function of sample rinse fluid (PBS, BPW, or nBPW) and antimicrobial application (CPC, PAA). At the conclusion of the second study testing *Salmonella* survival on commercially processed/harvested chicken carcasses and parts, resulting data was analyzed in identical fashion as that described for determination of differences in *Salmonella* survival as a function of sample rinse fluid (PBS, BPW, or nBPW).

3. RESULTS

3.1 Salmonella inoculated chicken carcasses

Following the completion of XLT4 and BGS recording, it was observed that only the PAA-treated, BPW-rinsed samples (PAA-BPW) yielded negative *Salmonella*-typical results (Table 4). Overall, 53.3% of the PAA-BPW-treated samples were presumptivepositive for the presence of *Salmonella*. All other treatments had presumptive-positive *Salmonella*-typical results recovered at a rate of 100% across collected samples. For all colonies that were stab/streaked onto TSI and LIA slants, 100% of samples were recorded as presumptive-positive *Salmonella* after the designated incubation period mentioned previously in Section 2.1.8

When comparing the interaction between rinse fluid formula and antimicrobial intervention, both fixed main effects (rinse fluid formulations, antimicrobial intervention) and the rinse fluid formulation x antimicrobial intervention were statistically significant at an α = 0.05 (Table 5). A student's t test was done in order to explain pair-wise comparisons among rinse fluid and the antimicrobial intervention (Table 6, Table 7, respectively). When comparing individual antimicrobial intervention/rinse fluid combinations, it was found that only the BPW-PAA combination was statistically different from over all rinse fluid formulation x antimicrobial interaction combinations (Table 8).

Antimicrobial Intervention ^{b,c}	Rinse Fluid ^d	% Presumptive-Positive Salmonella ^{e, f}
СРС	BPW	100.0
CPC	nBPW	100.0
CPC w/ 80 minute chill	BPW	100.0
CPC w/ 80 minute chili	nBPW	100.0
	BPW	53.3
PAA	nBPW	100.0

Table 4. Presumptive-positive *Salmonella* recovery from inoculated young chicken carcasses^a

^a The Salmonella spp. inocula was 1.1 X 10⁶ CFU/ml.

^b CPC, cetylpyridinium chloride, 0.8% CPC, PAA, peroxyacetic acid, 0.2% PAA.

^c CPC ingoing level was 0.8%, PAA ingoing level was 0.2%.

^d BPW, buffered peptone water, nBPW, neutralizing buffered peptone water.

^e Positive was defined as a sample that tested positive on either XLT4 or BGS Petri plates and on matching TSI and LIA slants. Negative results were determined as any sample that either did not have *Salmonella*-typical colony growth on XLT4 or BGS or did not have a presumptive-positive *Salmonella* interpretation from matching TSI and LIA slants(*34, 57*).

^f Calculated by taking the number of presumptive-positive results, dividing it by the number of samples overall for the respective Antimicrobial Intervention*Rinse Fluid combination and multiplying by 100.

Source ^b	Nparm	DF	DFDen	F Ratio	Prob > F
Rinse Fluid	1	1	82	12.0299	0.0008*
Antimicrobial intervention	2	2	82	12.0299	< 0.0001*
Rinse Fluid X Antimicrobial intervention	2	2	82	12.0299	<0.0001*

Table 5. Fixed Effects Test for presumptive-positive *Salmonella* recovery from inoculated young chicken carcasses^a

^a The *Salmonella* spp. inocula was 1.1 X 10⁶ CFU/ml.

^b Rinse fluids used were BPW, Buffered Peptone Water, nBPW, neutralizing Buffered Peptone Water. Antimicrobial interventions used were CPC, cetylpyridinium chloride, PAA, peroxyacetic acid.

^c *Prob >F significant, $\alpha = 0.05$

Table 6. Least Squares Means Differences Student's t for presumptive-positive *Salmonella* recovery from inoculated young chicken carcasses as a function of rinse fluid

	Level ^a	Least Squares Means ^b	Standard Error
nBPW		1.00 A	0.025
BPW		0.84 B	

^a nBPW, neutralizing Buffered Peptone Water, BPW, Buffered Peptone Water. ^b Levels not connected by the same letter(A, B) differ at p<0.05.

Table 7. Least Squares Means Differences Student's t for presumptive-positive *Salmonella* recovery from inoculated young chicken carcasses as a function of antimicrobial intervention

	Level ^a	Least Squares Means ^b	Standard Error
CPCa		1.0 A	0.033
CPC _b		1.0 A	
PAA		0.77 B	

^a CPC_a, CPC-treated carcasses without a chill step, CPC_b, CPC-treated carcasses with an 80 min chill, PAA, PAA-treated carcasses.

^b Levels not connected by the same letter(A, B) differ at p<0.05.

Table 8. Least Squares Means Differences Student's t for presumptive-positive *Salmonella* recovery from inoculated young chicken carcasses as a function of rinse fluid x antimicrobial intervention

Level ^a	Least Squares Means ^b	Standard Error
BPW X CPC _a	2.03 A	0.051
BPW X CPC _b	1.74 A	
nBPW X CPCa	1.61 A	
nBPW X CPC _b	1.31 A	
nBPW X PAA	1.22 A	
BPW X PAA	0.99 B	

^a BPW, Buffered Peptone Water, nBPW, neutralizing Buffered Peptone Water, CPC_a, cetylpyridinium chloride-treated carcasses without a chill step, CPC_b, cetylpyridinium chloride-treated carcasses with an 80 min chill, PAA, PAA-treated carcasses ^b Levels not connected by the same letter(A, B) differ at p<0.05.

3.2 Commercial chicken carcasses

Unlike the inoculated *Salmonella* carcass study, not every sample in the commercial plant carcass study was able to be labeled as presumptive-positive *Salmonella* or negative without going through TSI and LIA biochemical testing. While in the inoculated *Salmonella* carcass study, XLT4 and BGS agars displayed typical *S. enterica* subsp. *enterica* morphologies, in the commercial carcass samples, atypical colony morphologies were seen across all rinse fluid collections. The majority of BGS Petri plates showed bright, yellow-green colonies with a yellow-green or green halo, while only select few showed red colonies with a red agar halo surrounding the colony. These various characteristics were seen in all experimental replications, regardless of day of collection. In replicate 3, 0% of XLT4 and BGS agars displayed recovery after 24 hour incubation for CPC-treated, PBS-rinsed samples (CPC-PBS) and CPC-treated, BPW-rinsed samples (CPC-BPW) only (data not shown).

Plates displaying no growth were incubated at $35\pm2^{\circ}$ C for an additional 21 ± 3 h (57). After the additional incubation time, plates displaying no colony growth were discarded and recorded as negative (57). Plates with colony growth were recorded based on the procedure previously stated in Section 2.18. After completion of TSI and LIA incubation, Rule-Out Guidelines were used in order to classify questionable, atypical colony slants being classified as presumptive-positive or negative (*34*).

The percentage of presumptive-positive *Salmonella* rinse fluid results can be seen in Table 9. The only rinse fluid that had presumptive-positive *Salmonella* recovery was nBPW at a 13.3% recovery rate. After running an ANOVA for presumptivepositive *Salmonella* results, there was a statistically significant difference between rinse fluids (α =0.05) (Table 10). Due to this, a Least Squares Means Differences Tukey's HSD test was conducted to determine differences between rinse fluids (Table 11). There was a statistical difference between the nBPW rinse fluid from both the BPW and PBS rinse fluids, but there was no difference seen between BPW and PBS.

Table 9. Percent of presumptive-positive Salmonella results for chicken carcasses

Rinse Fluid ^a	% Presumptive-Positive Salmonellab
PBS	0.0%
BPW	0.0%
nBPW	13.3%

^a PBS, Phosphate Buffered Saline, BPW, Buffered Peptone Water, nBPW, neutralizing Buffered Peptone Water.

^b% presumptive-positive *Salmonella* was calculated by taking the number of presumptive-positive results, dividing it by the number of samples overall for the respective rinse fluid (N=60) and multiplying by 100.

Degrees of Freedom	Sums of Squares	Means of Squares	F Ratio	Prob > F
4	1.80	0.450	11.6667	< 0.0001*
175	6.75	0.039		
179	8.75			
	4 175	4 1.80 175 6.75 179 8.75	4 1.80 0.450 175 6.75 0.039 179 8.75	Freedom Squares Squares 4 1.80 0.450 11.6667 175 6.75 0.039 179 179 8.75 0.039 0.039

Table 10. Analysis of variance for chicken carcass presumptive-positive *Salmonella* results

* Prob > F significant at α =0.05

Saimonella		
Level ^a	Least Squares Means ^b	Standard Error
nBPW	0.15 A	0.025
BPW	1.9E-16 B	
PBS	1.9E-16 B	

Table 11. Least Squares Means Differences for chicken carcass presumptive-positive Salmonella

^a PBS, Phosphate Buffered Saline, BPW, Buffered Peptone Water, nBPW, neutralizing Buffered Peptone Water. ^b Levels not connected by the same letter are significantly different at p<0.05.

3.3 Commercial chicken edible parts

Similar to the commercial abattoir chicken carcass study, not every sample in the parts study was able to be labeled as presumptive-positive *Salmonella* or negative without going through TSI and LIA biochemical testing. BGS and XLT4 Petri plates showed similar morphologies as what was seen in the commercial carcass section. The majority of BGS Petri plates showed bright, yellow-green colonies with a yellow-green or green halo, while only select few showed red colonies with a red agar halo surrounding the colony. These various characteristics were seen in all sample replications, regardless of day of collection, or part sample piece that was collected. After completion of TSI and LIA incubation, Rule-Out Guidelines were used in order to classify questionable, atypical colony slants being classified as presumptive-positive or negative (*34*).

The percentage of presumptive-positive *Salmonella* rinse fluid results can be seen in Table 12. There was a 0% recovery of presumptive-positive *Salmonella* in reps 2 and 3 for the PBS rinse fluid (data not shown). After running an ANOVA for presumptive-positive *Salmonella* results, there was no statistically significant difference between rinse fluids ($\alpha = 0.05$) (Table 13).

I · · · · · · ·	
Rinse Fluid ^a	% Presumptive-Positive Salmonellab
PBS	4.8%
BPW	11.9%
nBPW	28.6%

Table 12. Percent of presumptive-positive *Salmonella* results from chicken edible parts study

^a PBS, Phosphate Buffered Saline, BPW, Buffered Peptone Water, nBPW, neutralizing Buffered Peptone Water.

^b % presumptive-positive *Salmonella* was calculated by taking the number of presumptive-positive results, dividing it by the number of samples overall for the respective rinse fluid (N=42) and multiplying by 100.

Source	DF	Sums of Squares	Means of Squares	F Ratio	Prob > F
Model	4	0.51	0.13	1.4	0.25
Error	121	11	0.09		
C. Total	125	12			
* Duch & E diam'd	<u>~</u>				

Table 13. Analysis of Variance for chicken edible parts presumptive-positive *Salmonella* results

* Prob > F significant

4. CONCLUSION

There is debate on whether the current testing methods provide the greatest opportunity for Salmonella recovery from raw poultry. Bourassa et al. (2015) determined that after performing neck skin, whole carcass rinse fluid and whole carcass enrichment on raw broilers treated with either air or immersion chilling, the only way to definitively declare that a raw poultry item that was tested for *Salmonella* can be declared "Salmonella-free" would be to sample every carcass by whole carcass enrichment, leaving no carcasses for consumption (7). Gamble et al.(2016) discovered that at 0- and 1-min drip time intervals for carcasses treated with PAA, CPC and acidified sodium chlorite, the collected drip fluid displayed statistically significant (P<0.0001) antimicrobial carryover activity with 0% of the samples detecting Salmonella, meaning that false-negatives could occur if the antimicrobial carryover is stronger than the neutralizing ability of the rinse fluid (36). Also, Salmonella cells could easily not be taken up when transferring occurs in the testing method. Of 400ml rinse fluid, 100% of rinse fluid capture and retention from the sample is unlikely with rinse fluid inevitably remaining on the carcasses, parts and/or bag. Of the rinse fluid that is collected, only 30 ml is taken to be diluted in a 1:1 ratio with sterile rinse fluid and preenriched. Of the 60 ml pre-enriched fluid, only 0.6±0.1 ml is transferred into selective enrichment broths. This leaves room for a failure to detect to occur in the event that Salmonella counts were not high enough after selective enrichment occurred.

Unlike the inoculated *Salmonella* carcass study, not every sample in the commercial whole carcass and edible parts study was able to be labeled as presumptive-

positive Salmonella or negative without going through TSI and LIA biochemical testing. This could be due to the inoculated carcass study being inoculated with a high population of Salmonella (10⁶ CFU/ml), resulting in the Salmonella serovars used in the cocktail to be recovered at a high rate through pre- and selective enrichments that followed after rinse fluid collection. Since low numbers of Salmonella are present in foods, pre-enrichment enables injured organisms the opportunity for recovery (30). However, this may not always mean the successful recovery of *Salmonella* spp. The ability to detect any Salmonella present can be dependent on the amount of Salmonella that is on the food initially (7, 53). Processed raw poultry carcasses usually have low Salmonella counts, with previous studies showing that chicken carcasses that are recorded as Salmonella positive can typically have no more than 100 cells of Salmonella (7, 42, 70). Berghaus et al. (2013) was able to show that as broiler chickens moved from farms and are processed in plants, the Salmonella prevalence decreases from the time the birds arrive at the plant to the time they exited a chlorinated-immersion chill tank (5). This demonstrates that antimicrobial interventions reduce the amount of Salmonella on carcasses, but also explains the low numbers of Salmonella from commercially collected samples. While Ukuku et al. (2004) applied a Salmonella cocktail to cantaloupes, they still found that as the log₁₀ CFU/ml inoculum level was increased, the recovery rates for Salmonella survival also increased for cantaloupes that underwent a hot water treatment or a 5% hydrogen peroxide treatment (53). This correlates to the data collected for the 10⁶ CFU/ml inoculated carcass preliminary study where recovery was observed from all antimicrobial intervention/rinse fluid treatment combinations. This could also explain

the low recovery rates seen in both the commercial carcass and edible parts studies also. When comparing varying levels of PAA and 0.003% chlorine solutions on inoculated chicken carcasses, Bauermeister et al. (2008) found that PAA levels as low as 0.0025% were more effective in decreasing *Salmonella* spp. compared to the chlorine solution (4). This could explain the low recovery rate seen in the PAA-treated, BPW-rinsed samples in the inoculated chicken carcass study.

Since raw poultry can also harbor bacteria other than *Salmonella*, the variation in morphologies on XLT4 and BGS Petri plates could be explained by the potential that other bacteria were able to replicate in the enrichment broths *(41)*. There were atypical S. *enterica* subsp. *enterica* morphologies on XLT4 and BGS Petri plates in all reps for commercial carcasses and parts. Plates exhibiting *Salmonella* atypical and typical colonies sampled for TSI and LIA stab-streaking. For commercial chicken carcasses and parts, atypical morphologies were tested in the event that an atypical *Salmonella* spp. was present. After TSI and LIA incubation, there was a 0% recovery of presumptive-positive *Salmonellae* for all atypical morphology colonies across all rinse fluids for both commercial carcasses and parts. This supports the suggestion that there were other bacteria that were able to thrive in the enrichment broths and were able to grow XLT4 and/or BGS.

Following the completion of the *Salmonella*-inoculated carcass study, findings suggest that the use of nBPW provided for a higher rate of *Salmonella* recovery post-antimicrobial application versus conventional BPW rinse fluid when PAA was the applied antimicrobial. Conversely, for CPC-treated inoculated carcasses, presumptive-

positive *Salmonella* survival rates did not differ, indicating that there was no effective impact of the rinse fluid formula on *Salmonella* recovery. For the remaining antimicrobial intervention/rinse fluid interactions, there was no significant difference between the treatments, other than the previously mentioned PAA-BPW interaction. PAA application at maximum applied concentrations may be effectively neutralized with the use of nBPW post-dripping based on the preliminary experiment results.

After running a one-way ANOVA for presumptive-positive *Salmonella*, there was no significant difference ($\alpha = 0.05$) between rinse fluids for parts, but there was a significant difference between rinse fluids for commercial carcasses rinsed with nBPW only. These data indicate that in samples with low *Salmonella* counts, nBPW does have a neutralizing affect against any antimicrobial solution that could have remained post-1 min drip, and it was greater than both the control (PBS) and the previous rinse fluid (BPW).

This is the first study comparing the nBPW rinse fluid formulation to BPW rinse fluid in both an inoculated carcass setting and a commercial poultry abattoir (*67*). While these data show there was neutralizing ability for nBPW for carcass rinse collections, it does not provide the security that nBPW is more capable as a neutralizing rinse fluid versus PBS or BPW for chicken parts rinse collections. In order to obtain more concrete results, further studies should be done to determine if there is a statistical difference between BPW and nBPW rinse fluids when sampling chicken edible parts or if a stronger neutralizing formulation is required for parts rinses due to chicken parts in this setting having undergone two antimicrobial intervention applications versus the one

47

application for carcasses. Different approved antimicrobial solutions at varying levels should also be tested to ensure that nBPW has a greater neutralizing ability across all antimicrobial solutions available for use by poultry processors. Also, carcass studies should be extended to determine if BPW versus nBPW rinse fluid collections could be replicated with similar results. Research should also be expanded to other chicken edible parts that are sampled per USDA-FSIS regulations to determine if results are similar to those obtained in the present study.

REFERENCES

1. Akil, L., H. A. Ahmad, and R. S. Reddy. 2014. Effects of climate change on *Salmonella* infections. *Foodborne Pathogens Dis.* 11(12):974-980.

Bartenfeld, L. N., D. L. Fletcher, J. K. Northcutt, D. V. Bourassa, N. A. Cox, and
 R. J. Buhr. 2014. The effect of high-level chlorine carcass drench on the recovery of
 Salmonella and enumeration of bacteria from broiler carcasses. *Poultry Sci.* 93(11):2893-2899.

3. Batz, M. B., S. Hoffmann, and J. G. Morris. 2011. Ranking the risks: the 10 pathogen-food combinations with the greatest burden on public health. *In* University of Florida, Gainsville, Emerging Pathogens Institute. Available at:

https://folio.iupui.edu/bitstream/handle/10244/1022/72267report.pdf. Accessed 3 August 2016.

4. Bauermeister, L. J., J. W. J. Bowers, J. C. Townsend, and S. R. McKee. 2008. The microbial and quality properties of poultry carcasses treated with peracetic acid as an antimicrobial treatment. *Poultry Sci.* 87:9.

5. Berghaus, R. D., S. G. Thayer, B. F. Law, R. M. Mild, C. L. Hofacre, and R. S. Singer. 2013. Enumeration of *Salmonella* and *Campylobacter* spp. in environmental farm samples and processing plant carcass rinses from commercial broiler chicken flocks. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 79(13):4106-4114.

6. Block, S. S. 2001. Disinfection, sterilization, preservation. Lippincott, Williams and Wilkins, Philadelphia, PA.

7. Bourassa, D. V., J. M. Holmes, J. A. Cason, N. A. Cox, L. L. Rigsby, and R. J. Buhr. 2015. Prevalence and serogroup diversity of *Salmonella* for broiler neck skin, whole carcass rinse, and whole carcass enrichment sampling methodologies following air or immersion chilling. *J. Food Prot.* 78(11):1938-1944.

8. Cason, J. A., M. E. Berrang, R. J. Buhr, and N. A. Cox. 2004. Effect of prechill fecal contamination on numbers of bacteria recovered from broiler chicken carcasses before and after immersion chilling. *J. Food Prot.* 67(9):1829-1833.

9. CDC. 2011. New performance standards for *Salmonella* and *Campylobacter* in young chicken and turkey slaughter establishments: response to comments and announcement of implementation schedule. *Fed. Regist.* 76:15282-15290.

10. CDC. 2011. Vital signs: incidence and trends of infection with pathogens
transmitted commonly through food - foodborne diseases active surveillance network, 10
U.S. sites, 1996-2010. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly*. 60:7.

11. CDC. 2012. Glossary of Terms. Available at:

http://www.cdc.gov/hantavirus/resources/glossary.html. Accessed 28 September 2016.

12. CDC. 2013. Multistate outbreak of *Salmonella* Heidelberg infections linked to chicken (final update). Available at: http://www.cdc.gov/salmonella/heidelberg-02-13/index.html. Accessed 22 September 2016.

 CDC. 2013. National *Salmonella surveillance annual report*, 2011. U.S.
 Deptartment of Health and Human Services, CDC, Atlanta, GA. Available at: http://www.cdc.gov/ncezid/dfwed/pdfs/salmonella-annual-report-2011-508c.pdf.
 Accessed 14 August 2016. CDC. 2014. Multistate outbreak of multidrug-resistant *Salmonella* Heidelberg infections linked to Foster Farms brand chicken (final update). Available at: http://www.cdc.gov/salmonella/heidelberg-10-13/index.html. Accessed 22 September 2016.

15. CDC. 2015. National Notifiable Diseases Surveillance System (NNDSS): Data Collection and Reporting. Available at: https://wwwn.cdc.gov/nndss/data-collection.html. Accessed 20 October 2016.

 CDC. 2016. Eight multistate outbreaks of human *Salmonella* infections linked to live poultry in backyard flocks (final update). Available at: http://www.cdc.gov/salmonella/live-poultry-05-16/index.html. Accessed 10 October 2016.

17. CDC. 2016. Estimates of foodborne illness in the United States, burden of foodborne illness: findings. Available at: http://www.cdc.gov/foodborneburden/2011-foodborne-estimates.html#modalIdString_CDCTable_2. Accessed 3 August 2016.

18. CDC. 2016. Foodborne Diseases Active Surveillance Network (FoodNet):FoodNet Surveillance Report for 2014 (Final Report). Available at:

http://www.cdc.gov/foodnet/reports/annual-reports-2014.html. Accessed 30 August 2016.

19. CDC. 2016. Surveillance for foodborne disease outbreaks, United States, 2014, annual report. Available at: http://www.cdc.gov/foodsafety/pdfs/foodborne-outbreaks-annual-report-2014-508.pdf. Accessed 30 August 2016.

51

20. CDC. 2016. What is salmonellosis? Available at:

https://www.cdc.gov/salmonella/general/. Accessed 22 September 2016.

21. Chalker, R. B., and M. J. Blaser. 1988. A review of human salmonellosis. III. magnititude of *Salmonella* infection in the United States. *Rev. Infect. Dis.* 10:111-124.

22. Chung, K. C., and J. M. Goepfert. 1970. Growth of *Salmonella* at low pH. *J. Food Sci.* 35:326-328.

23. Code of Federal Regulations. 2007. 21 CFR 173.375 - Cetylpyridinium chloride.
Available at http://www.fda.gov/ohrms/dockets/98fr/E7-23182.htm. Accessed 3 August
2016.

24. Code of Federal Regulations. 2011. 21 CFR 173.370 - Peroxyacids. Available at:
963 https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/granule/CFR-2011-title21-vol3/CFR-2011-title21-vol3964 sec173-370. Accessed 3 August 2016.

25. Code of Federal Regulations. 2014. Title 9 CFR 381.65 - Operationals and procedures, generally. Available at: http://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-967
idx?SID=ad5dc7d65d6382df41328f441f9972d6&mc=true&node=se9.2.381_165&rgn=d
968 iv8. Accessed 3 August 2016.

26. Cox, N. A., J. E. Thomson, and J. S. Bailey. 1981. Sampling of broiler carcasses for *Salmonella* with low volume water rinse. *Poultry Sci.* 60(4):768-770.

27. Dell, R. B., S. Holleran, and R. Ramakrishnan. 2002. Sample size determination. *Institute for Lab. Animal Research J.* 43(4):207-213.

28. Domingues, A. R., S. M. Pires, H. T, and T. Hald. 2012. Source attribution of human campylobacteriosis using a meta-analysis of case-control studeies of sporadic infections. *Epi. & Infect.* 140:970-981.

29. Doores, S. 2005. Organic Acids. p. 91-142. *In* P.M. Davidson, J.N. Sofos, and A.L. Branen (ed.), Antimicrobials in Food Taylor & Francis, Boca Raton, FL.

30. Downes, F. P., and K. Ito (ed.). 2001. Compendium of methods for the microbiological examination of foods. American Public Health Association, Washington, DC.

31. Doyle, M. P., and L. R. Beuchat (ed.). 2013. Food Microbiology: Fundamentals and Frontiers. ASM Press, Washington, D.C.

32. FDA. 2001. Bacteriological Analytical Manual, Chapter 25: Investigation ofFood Implicated Illness. Online. Available at:

http://www.fda.gov/Food/FoodScienceResearch/LaboratoryMethods/ucm072597.htm. Accessed 30 August 2016.

33. FDA. 2016. Bacteriological Analytical Manual, Chapter 5: Salmonella. Online.Available at:

http://www.fda.gov/Food/FoodScienceResearch/LaboratoryMethods/ucm070149.htm. Accesed 3 August 2016.

34. Forstner, M. J. 2016. *Salmonella* Flipbook. p. 1-15. *In* M.D.o. Agriculture (ed.)FDA, Online. Available at:

http://www.fda.gov/downloads/Food/FoodScienceResearch/RFE/UCM517352.pdf. Accessed 20 August 2016. 35. Frenzen, P. D., T. L. Riggs, J. C. Buzby, T. Breuer, T. Roberts, D. Voetsch, S. Reddy, and F. W. Group. 1999. *Salmonella* cost estimate updated using FoodNet data. *Food Rev.* 22(2).

36. Gamble, G. R., M. E. Berrang, R. Jeff Buhr, J. A. Hinton, D. V. Bourassa, J. J. Johnston, K. D. Ingram, E. S. Adams, and P. W. Feldner. 2016. Effect of simulated sanitizer carryover on recovery of *Salmonella* from broiler carcass rinsates. *J. Food Prot.* 79(5):710-714.

37. Gonzalez-Aguilar, G., J. F. Ayala-Zavala, C. Chaidez-Quiroz, J. B. Heredia, and N. C. de Campo. 2012. Peroxyacetic acid. p. 215-223. *In* V.M. Gomez-Lopez (ed.), Decontamination of fresh and minimally processed produce. Wiley-Blackwell.

38. Huang, J., O. Henao, P. Griffin, D. Vugia, A. Cronquist, S. Hurd, M. Tobin-D'Angelo, P. Ryan, K. Smith, S. Lathrop, and e. al. 2016. Infection with pathogens transmitted commonly through food and the effect of increasing use of cultureindependent diagnostic tests on surveillance - foodborne diseases active surveillance network, 10 U.S. sites, 2012 - 2015. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly*. 15(65):4.

39. Huyck, C. L. 1944. Cetylpyridinium chloride. Am. J. Pharm. 116:50-59.

40. International Poultry Council. 2013. Industry Statistics. Chicken meat per capita consumption for top chicken producing countries (ed.). Available at:

http://www.internationalpoultrycouncil.org/industry/industry.cfm. Accessed 21 August 2016.

41. Jay, J. M., M. J. Loessner, and D. A. Golden. 2005. Modern Food Microbiology. Springer, New York, NY. 42. Jorgensen, F., R. H. Bailey, S. Williams, P. Henderson, D. R. Wareing, F. J. Bolton, J. A. Frost, L. Ward, and T. J. Humphrey. 2002. Prevalence and numbers of *Salmonella* and *Campylobacter* spp. on raw, whole chickens in relation to sampling methods. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* 76:151-164.

43. Kim, J., and M. F. Slavik. 1995. Cetylpyridinium chloride (CPC) treatment on poultry skin to reduce attached *Salmonella*. *J. Food Prot.* 59(3):322-326.

44. Kimura, A. C., V. Reddy, R. Marcus, P. R. Cieslak, J. C. Mohle-Boetani, H. D. Kassenborg, S. D. Segler, F. P. Hardnett, T. Barrett, and D. L. Swerdlow. 2004. Chicken consumption is a newly identified risk factor for sporadic *Salmonella enterica* serotype Enteritidis sifections in the United States: a case-control study in FoodNet sites. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 38(Suppl3):S244-252.

45. McBain, A. J., R. G. Ledder, L. E. Moore, C. E. Catrenich, and P. Gilbert. 2004. Effects of quaternary-ammonium-based formulations on bacterial community dynamics and antimicrobial susceptibility. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 70(6):3449-3456.

46. Mead, P. S., L. Slutsker, V. Dietz, L. E. McCaig, J. S. Bresee, C. Shapiro, P. M. Griffin, and R. V. Tauxe. 2000. Food-related illnesses and death in the United States. *J. Environ. Health.* 62(7):9-18.

47. Nagel, G. M., L. J. Bauermeister, C. L. Bratcher, M. Singh, and S. R. McKee. 2013. *Salmonella* and *Campylobacter* reduction and quality characteristics of poultry carcasses treated with various antimicrobials in a post-chill immersion tank. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* 165(3):281-286. 48. Northcutt, J. K., J. A. Cason, P. Smith, R. J. Buhr, and D. L. Fletcher. 2004. Broiler carcass bacterial counts after immersion chilling using either a low or high volume of water. *Poutry Sci.* 85:1802-1806.

49. Ray, B. 2004. Fundamental Food Microbiology. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.

50. Ribeiro, S. A. M., J. B. de Paiva, F. Zotesso, M. V. F. Lemos, and A. Berchieri Janor. 2009. Molecular differentiation between *Salmonella enterica* subsp *enterica* serovar Pullorum and *Salmonella enterica* subsp *enterica* serovar Gallinarum. *Brazilian J Microbiol*. 40:184-188.

Scallan, E., R. M. Hoekstra, F. J. Angulo, R. V. Tauxe, M. Widdowson, S. L.
 Roy, J. L. Jones, and P. M. Griffin. 2011. Foodborne illness acquired in the United
 States - major pathogens. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 17:7-15.

52. U.S. Poultry & Egg Association. Date, 2016, Economic Data. Available at: https://www.uspoultry.org/economic_data/. Accessed 28 September, 2016.

53. Ukuku, D. O., V. Pilizota, and G. M. Sapers. 2004. Effect of hot water and hydrogen peroxide treatments on survival of *Salmonella* and microbial quality of whole and fresh-cut cantaloup. *J. Food Prot.* 67(3):432-437.

54. USDA-FSIS. 2009. The nationwide microbiological baseline data collection program: young chicken survey. Online. Available at:

http://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/wcm/connect/deab6607-f081-41a4-90bf-

8928d7167a71/Baseline_Data_Young_Chicken_2007-2008.pdf?MOD=AJPERES. Accessed 30 August 2016. 55. USDA-FSIS. 2011. Food Safety and Inspection Service strategic plan: FY 2011-2016. Available at: http://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/wcm/connect/65602d92-d017-4edc-8536-5ed6aaa6b52a/Strategic_Plan_2011-2016.pdf?MOD=AJPERES. Accessed 18 September 2016.

56. USDA-FSIS. 2013. The nationwide microbiological baseline data collection program: raw chicken parts survey. Online. Available at:

http://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/wcm/connect/a9837fc8-0109-4041-bd0c-

729924a79201/Baseline_Data_Raw_Chicken_Parts.pdf?MOD=AJPERES. Acessed 22 September 2016.

57. USDA-FSIS. 2014. Isolation and Identification of *Salmonella* from Meat,
Poultry, Pasteurized Egg, and Catfish Products and Carcass and Environment Sponges,
MLG 4.08. *In* United States Department of Agriculture (ed.), Microbiological
Laboratory Guidebook.

58. USDA-FSIS. 2015. DRAFT FSIS Compliance Guideline for Controlling Salmonella and Campylobacter in Raw Poultry. United States Department of Agriculture. Available at: http://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/wcm/connect/6732c082-af40-415e-9b57-90533ea4c252/Compliance_Guide_Controlling_Salmonella_

Campylobacter_Poultry_0510.pdf?MOD=AJPERES. Acessed 21 September 2016.

59. USDA-FSIS. 2015. FSIS Compliance Guideline: Modernization of Poultry Slaughter Inspection: Microbiological Sampling of Raw Poultry, June 2015. United States Department of Agriculture. Available at:

http://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/wcm/connect/a18d541e-77d2-40cf-a045-

b2d2d13b070d/Microbiological-Testing-Raw-Poultry.pdf?MOD=AJPERES. Acessed 20 October 2016.

60. USDA-FSIS. 2016. FSIS Directive 7120.1 Rev. 37, Safe and suitable ingredients used in the production of meat, poultry, and egg products. United States Department of Agriculture. Available at: http://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/wcm/connect/bab10e09-aefa-483b-8be8-809a1f051d4c/7120.1.pdf?MOD=AJPERES. Accessed 21 August 2016.

61. USDA-FSIS. 2016. FSIS Notice 41-16: New neutralizing buffered peptone water to replace current buffered peptone water for poultry verification sampling. USDA-FSIS. Available at: http://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/wcm/connect/2cb982e0-625c-483f-9f50-6f24bc660f33/41-16.pdf?MOD=AJPERES. Accessed 5 August 2016.

62. USDA-FSIS. 2016. Pathogen reduction-*Salmonella* and *Campylobacter* performance standards verification testing. USDA-FSIS. Available at: http://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/wcm/connect/b0790997-2e74-48bf-979985814bac9ceb/28_IM_PR_Sal_Campy.pdf?MOD=AJPERES. Accessed 18 September 2016.

63. USDA-FSIS. 2016. Related documents for FSIS Directive 7120.1 - safe and suitable ingredients used in the production of meat, poultry, and egg products. Available at: http://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/portal/fsis/topics/regulations/directives/7000-series/safe-suitable-ingredients-related-document. Accessed 21 September 2016.

64. USDA. 1996. Pathogen reduction; hazard analysis and critical control point (HACCP) systems. *Fed. Regist.* 61:38806-38818.

65. USDA. 2012. Progress report on *Salmonella* and *Campylobacter* testing of raw meat and poultry products, 1998-2011. United States Department of Agriculture.
Available at: http://www.fsis.usda.gov/OPHS/baseline/broiler1.pdf. Accessed 18 August 2016.

66. USDA. 2014. USDA announces additional food safety requirements, new inspection system for poultry products. Online. Available at:

http://www.usda.gov/wps/portal/usda/usdahome?contentidonly=true&contentid=2014/0 7/0163.xml. Accessed 8 September 2016.

67. USDA. 2016. Neutralizing buffered peptone water (nBPW). Available at: https://www.fbo.gov/index?s=opportunity&mode=form&id=86c80b762fc373674eb8c0b 17a3382c7&tab=core&_cview=1. Accessed 28 September 2016.

Ventullo, R. M., and R. J. Larson. 1986. Adaptation of aquatic microbial communities to quaternary ammonium compoundsd. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 51(2):356-361.

69. Voetsch, A. C., T. J. Van Gilder, F. J. Angulo, M. M. Farley, S. Shallow, R. Marcus, P. R. Cieslak, V. C. Deneen, and R. V. Tauxe. 2004. FoodNet estimate of the burden of illness caused by nontyphoidal *Salmonella* infections in the United States. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 38(Suppl 3):S127-134.

70. Waldroup, A. L. 1996. Contamination of raw poultry with pathogens. *World Poultry Sci.* 52:7-25.

Waldroup, A. L., K. L. Beers, P. E. Cook, D. R. Odglen, R. A. Baker, C. W.Coleman, B. A. Smith, and B. W. Maingi. 2010. The effects of cetylpyridinium chloride

(Cecure CPC Antimicrobial) on *Campylobacter* spp. on raw poultry: a review. *Int. J. Poultry Sci.* 9(4):305-308.

Weiner, H. 1974. The Origins of Salmonellosis. Animal Health Institute,Washington, D.C.

73. WHO. Date, 2005, *Salmonella*: fact sheet N°139. Available at: www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs139/en/. Accessed 20 September 2016.